

# Consent to Treatment and Care Policy

December 2020

DATE APPROVED 02/12/20

# **Document Profile**

Document Registration	
Туре	Policy
Title	Consent to Treatment and Care Policy
Author	Allison Mills Adapted with kind permission from HCS November 2019
Category clinical / corporate / education / Health & Safety / HR / Info Governance	Clinical
Description	To set out the standards and procedures in FNHC which aim to ensure that care practitioners are able to meet the requirements of the law and best practice in relation to the consent process
Approval Route	Organisational Governance Approval Group
Approved by	Bronwen Whittaker
Date approved	2 December 2020
Review date	3 years
Document Status	This is a controlled document. Whilst this document may be printed, the electronic version posted on the intranet is the controlled copy. Any printed copies of this document are not controlled. As a controlled document, this document should not be saved onto local or network drives but should always be accessed from the intranet.

Version control / changes made

Date	Version	Summary of changes made	Author

# **CONTENTS**

1. IN	TRODUCTION	5
1.1	Rationale	5
1.2	Scope	6
1.3	Role and Responsibilities	6
Ch	ief Executive Officer	6
Dir	ector of Governance and Care	6
He	ad of Quality, Governance and Care	6
Sa	feguarding Lead for Adults and Children	6
Ор	perational Leads	6
Te	am Leaders	6
Sta	aff	6
2. PC	DLICY	6
2.1 L	egislative Framework	6
2.2	General Principles of Consent	7
2.3	Requirements for valid consent	7
2.3	3.1 Does the person have capacity to consent?	8
	3.2 Is consent given voluntarily?	
2.3	3.3 Has the patient received sufficient information?	9
3. PR	OCEDURE	11
3.1	Communication	11
3.2	Who should seek consent?	12
3.3	Care practitioners delegating consent	12
3.4	When should consent be sought?	12
3.4	I.1 Single stage process	13
3.4	I.2 Multi-stage process	13
3.5	Form of consent	13
3.6	Duration of consent	14
3.7	Qualified (restricted consent)	14
3.8	When consent is refused	15
3.9	Advance decisions to refuse treatment	15
3.10	Withdrawal of consent	15
3.11	Consent to photography	15
3.12	Consent for diagnostic investigations	16
3.13	Consent for the processing, analysis and storage of clinical samples	16
3.14	Consent to participate in research	16
3.15	Consent to student participation	17
3.16	Consent in an emergency situation	17

3	3.17	Consent and the Mental Health (Jersey) Law 2016	18
3	3.18	Consent for prescribing and administering unlicensed medication	18
3	3.19	Consent and the Law Officers' Department	18
3	3.20	Persons unable to make decisions	19
3	3.21 Yo	oung Persons	20
	3.21.	1 Does the young person have capacity to consent?	20
	3.21.	2 Has the young person received sufficient information?	20
	3.21.	3 Is consent given voluntarily?	20
	3.21.	4 Young persons with capacity refusing treatment	20
	3.21.	5 Young person unable to make a decision about care / treatment	20
3	3.22	Parental Responsibility	21
	3.22.	1 Person with parental responsibility refusing consent	22
3	3.23	Children	22
	3.23.	1 Young children and babies	22
	3.23.	2 Children under 16yrs with capacity	22
	3.23.	3 Is consent given voluntarily?	23
	3.23.	4 Has the child received sufficient information?	23
	3.23.	5 Child with capacity refusing treatment	23
	3.23.	6 Child without capacity	24
	3.23.	7 Person with parental responsibility refusing consent	24
3	3.24	Withdrawing and withholding life-sustaining treatment	24
		1 General principles	
		2 Persons with capacity	
	3.24.	3 Young person and child with capacity	25
	3.24.	3 Persons unable to make a decision	25
	3.24.	4 Children lacking capacity	25
3	3.25	Overview of the consent process	26
4.	CON	SULTATION PROCESS	26
5.	IMPL	EMENTATION PLAN	26
6.	MON	ITORING COMPLIANCE	26
7.	EQU	ALITY IMPACT STATEMENT	26
8.	GLO	SSARY OF TERMS	28
9.	REF	ERENCES	30
10.		PENDICES	
		dix 1 Case Law	
P	Append	lix 2 Overview of the Consent Process	37
A	Append	dix 3 Equality Impact Screening Tool	39

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Rationale

High quality care should be safe and provided in a way that ensures the best possible experience of care. Opportunities must be provided to discuss individual health beliefs, concerns and preferences to inform care and support the right to choose, accept or decline treatment. All Family Nursing & Home Care (FNHC) service users must be treated with dignity, kindness, compassion, courtesy, respect, understanding and honesty.

Case law (common law) has established that touching a patient without valid consent may constitute the civil or criminal offence of battery. An inadequate consent process also damages the care practitioner-patient relationship. Furthermore, if care practitioners fail to obtain valid consent and the patient subsequently suffers harm as a result of the treatment, this may be a factor in a claim of negligence.

The Supreme Court judgment in the case of Montgomery v Lanarkshire Health Board [2015] UKSC 111, represents a landmark decision for the care practitioner-patient relationship and the process of informed consent. Reasonable steps must be taken to ensure that patients are aware of any risks that are material to them and should inform their patients of alternative treatments, including the option of no treatment. This has since been reinforced in Webster (A Child) v. Burton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust [2017] EWCA Civ 622: The Courts have indicated that they will take a wide range of factors into consideration, including the person's education and conduct through the relevant treatment when considering Montgomery. Doctors are now under a duty to understand the particular and personal concerns of their patients.

The Bolam<sub>1</sub> test no longer applies to the issue of consent. The law treats patients, so far as possible, as persons capable of understanding that medical treatment is uncertain of success and may involve risks, of accepting responsibility for risks affecting their lives and of living with the consequences of their choices.

The law requires a doctor to take 'reasonable care to ensure that the patient is aware of any material risks involved in any recommended treatment and of any reasonable alternative or variant treatment'. Material risk is defined in law as either a risk to which a reasonable person in the patient's position would be likely to attach significance, or a risk that a doctor knows — or should reasonably know — would be deemed of significance by this particular patient. Failure by FNHC employees to adhere to this principle could expose FNHC to legal action due to the actions of employees.

This policy sets out the standards and procedures in FNHC which aim to ensure that care practitioners are able to comply with the relevant law and best practice guidelines issued by regulatory bodies relating to consent.

In cases where there is conflict, guidance should be sought from line managers in the first instance, who in turn can escalate according to the context of the situation. Guidance can also be sought from the appropriate professional and regulatory bodies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to *Bolam,* 'a doctor is not guilty of negligence if he has acted in accordance with a practice accepted as proper by a responsible body of medical men skilled in that particular art'. In *Sidaway v Board of Governors of Bethlehem Royal Hospital,* the *Bolam* standard was applied to the information given as well as the treatment chosen and the method of carrying out.

#### 1.2 Scope

For the purpose of this document, consent refers to the rights of patients to decide what, if any, care they are to receive and the duty of the care practitioner to ensure that patients have given their permission prior to any care-giving, treatment, examination or intervention.

This policy aims to ensure that all employees working within FNHC who have direct contact with patients comply with the required consent process.

This document has been adapted with kind permission from the Health and Community Services Consent to Treatment and Care Policy and applies to all FNHC employees including those working with Children and Young People.

#### 1.3 Role and Responsibilities

#### Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is accountable for the quality of services provided by the organisation and is accountable to the committee for the management of the organisation to maintain high standards including risk management, patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience.

#### Director of Governance and Care

The Director of Governance and Care is accountable for the implantation of this policy into practice within the organisation and taking appropriate action should any breach of this policy arise.

#### Head of Quality, Governance and Care

The Head of Quality, Governance and Care is responsible for monitoring services to ensure standards and patient safety are being maintained.

#### Safeguarding Lead for Adults and Children

The Lead Nurse for Safeguarding Adults and Children is responsible for ensuring that FNHC is compliant with primary legislation, national, regional and local government strategy relating to safeguarding adults and children.

#### Operational Leads

All Operational Leads have a delegated responsibility for ensuring this policy is known to all staff and that its requirements are followed by all staff within their division / department.

#### Team Leaders

Team Leaders are responsible for bringing this policy to the attention of staff within their team and providing evidence that the document has been cascaded within their team or department.

#### Staff

All staff are responsible for adhering to this policy.

#### 2. POLICY

#### 2.1 Legislative Framework

Whilst there is no legislation in Jersey which sets out the principles of consent, English case law would be strongly considered in its absence. English law also forms the basis for much of the regulatory body guidance. Therefore, for the purposes of consent, FNHC looks to best practice and law from England. However, care

practitioners must be aware of the areas in which Jersey law differs from English law. In such instances, Jersey law must be followed.

#### European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR)

In Jersey, the Human Rights (Jersey) Law 2000 (enacted 2006) gives effect to the rights enshrined in the ECHR. All public authorities are required to act in accordance with the rights set out in this law. The main articles that are likely to be relevant are:

Article 2 The protection of the right to life.

Article 3 The prohibition of torture and inhumane or degrading treatment or punishment.

Article 5 The right to liberty and security.

Article 8 The right to respect for private and family life.

Article 9 Freedom of thought, conscience and religion.

Article 14 The prohibition of discrimination in the enjoyment of Convention rights.

#### Mental Health Act (1983)

When references to the Mental Health Act 1983 are made, the relevant provisions of the Mental Health Law (Jersey) (MHL) 2016 should be read.

#### Mental Capacity Act (2005)

When references to the Mental Capacity Act (2005) are made, the relevant provisions of the Capacity and Self-Determination Law (Jersey) (CSDL) 2016 should be read.

#### Family Law Reform Act (1987)

Under this Act, people aged 16-17yrs are entitled to consent to their own treatment. Under Consent to Medical Treatment Law (Jersey) 1973, people aged 16-17yrs are also entitled to consent to their own medical treatment in Jersey.

#### Children's Act 1989 (Updated 2014)

In England, this Act sets out those people who may have parental responsibility for a child. In Jersey, the equivalent legislation is the Children (Jersey) Law 2002 which clearly sets parental responsibility.

#### Regulation of Care (Jersey) Law 2014 (Home Care Standards 2019)

Registered persons and care/support workers must at all times be compliant with the Capacity and Self Determination (Jersey) Law 2016 and relevant legislation in respect of people's rights, consent and decision making.

## 2.2 General Principles of Consent

Within this document, the terms 'must and should' are used in the following ways:

- 'must' is used for an overriding duty or principle
- 'should' is used where the duty or principle will not apply in all situations or circumstances, or where there are factors outside your control that affects whether or how you can follow this guidance.

#### 2.3 Requirements for valid consent

For consent to be valid, it must be:

- given by a person with capacity to consent or refuse consent to the intervention in question, or any other legal decision maker
- given voluntarily and freely, without pressure or undue influence being exerted on the patient either to accept or refuse treatment and

DATE APPROVED 02/12/20

based on appropriate information and understood (informed)

Acquiescence where the patient does not know what the intervention involves, is not consent.

#### 2.3.1 Does the person have capacity to consent?

To determine if a person has capacity to make particular decisions, a single test must be applied: this requires asking if at the material time the person is unable to make their own decision in relation to the matter because they suffer from an impairment or a disturbance in the functioning of his or her mind or brain.

A person is unable to make a decision if they cannot satisfy one or more of the following:

- understand information relevant to that decision
- retain the information for a period, however short, which is sufficient to make the decision
- use or weigh the information in making the decision
- communicate the decision

Capacity is time and decision specific; a person may have the capacity to consent to simple care and treatment decisions but not complex decisions.

When assessing capacity, the core principles must be followed:

Principle 1 - All persons (16+) are assumed to have capacity unless it is established that they lack capacity.

Principle 2 - A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision unless all practical steps have been taken to help them make a decision.

Principle 3 - A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision merely because they make an unwise decision.

Principle 4 - Anything done for or on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must be done in their best interests.

Principle 5 - The purpose for which an act is done or a decision is made on behalf of a person who lacks capacity should be achieved in ways that are least restrictive to the person concerned.

Care practitioners have a duty to support decision-making and should take all reasonable steps in the circumstances to facilitate communication with the person; including using an independent capacity advocate (ICA), learning disability specialists, speech and language therapists, interpreters or communication aids as appropriate and ensuring that the patient feels at ease. In particular, careful consideration should be given to the way in which information is explained or presented to the patient. Where appropriate, those who know the patient well, including their family, carers and staff from professional or voluntary support services may be able to advise on the best way to communicate with the person.

Pain, fear, panic, fatigue and medication can impact upon a person's capacity. All reasonable and practicable steps should be taken to alleviate these symptoms. If this cannot be done, a best interest approach must be followed. For example, a person may be still be experiencing the effects of night sedation during the morning period with a subsequent effect upon capacity, therefore discussions should take place in the afternoon. People with Alzheimer's and dementia may also experience increased

Consent to treatment and care DATE APPROVED 02/12/20

confusion, anxiety and agitation later on the day which could affect capacity (sundowning syndrome4).

For more detailed guidance on capacity, please refer directly to the Capacity and Self-Determination (Jersey) Law 20165 and the Capacity and Self-Determination (Jersey) Law 2016 Code of Practice.

#### 2.3.2 Is consent given voluntarily?

It is a principle of English common law that consent must be given voluntarily and freely, without pressure or undue influence being exerted upon the person to accept or refuse treatment2.

Care practitioners must be alert to the possibility that such pressure can come from partners, family members, religious groups, friends, associates and without intention, by care practitioners themselves. Where appropriate, arrangements should be made to see the person on their own to establish that the decision made is genuinely their own.

When people are seen and treated in environments where involuntary detention is an issue (police cell, prison, mental health hospitals), there is a potential for treatment offers to be perceived coercively, whether or not this is the case. Coercion invalidates consent so extra care must be taken to ensure that the person makes a decision freely.

#### 2.3.3 Has the patient received sufficient information?

Once the first two requirements have been satisfied, the last requirement for consent to be valid is that the person needs to understand the nature and purpose of the procedure.

Care practitioners must take reasonable steps to ensure that patients are aware of any risks that are material to them and should inform their patients of alternative treatments, including the option of no treatment. Material risk is defined in law as either a risk to which a reasonable person in the patients position would be likely to attach significance, or a risk that a care practitioner knows – or should reasonably know – would be deemed of significance by this particular patient.

Assessing the significance of a risk is fact-sensitive and cannot be reduced to percentages. What might constitute a material risk to a particular patient does not depend on its size. The Montgomery ruling states that 'the assessment of whether a risk is material cannot be reduced to percentages. The significance of a given risk is likely to reflect a variety of factors besides its magnitude: for example, the nature of the risk, the effect which its occurrence would have upon the life of the patient, the importance to the patient of the benefits sought to be achieved by the treatment, the alternatives available, and the risks involved in those alternatives. The assessment is therefore fact-sensitive, and sensitive also to the characteristics of the patient'1.

In practical terms, care practitioners have to consider:

Does the person know about the material risks of the proposed treatment?

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Re T (Adult) [1992] 4 ALL ER 649

A pregnant woman was injured in a car accident and developed complications that required blood transfusions. She did not indicate on admission that she was opposed to receiving blood but after spending time with her mother, a practicing Jehovah's Witness, she decided to refuse treatment. The Court of Appeal decided that she had been pressurised by her mother and that her ability to make a decision was further impaired by the drugs with which she was being treated. The Court allowed the blood transfusions to proceed.

- What sorts of risks would a reasonable person in the person's circumstances want to know?
- What sorts of risks would this particular person want to know?
- Does the person know about reasonable alternatives to this treatment?
- Has reasonable care been taken to ensure that the person actually understands all this?
- Do any of the exceptions to the duty to disclose apply here?
  - person states that he / she does not want to know the risks
  - care practitioners may reasonably consider that disclosure would cause the person serious harm (beyond merely causing distress)
  - where urgent treatment is needed
- Has the consent process been fully and properly documented; the discussion and reference to any literature provided?

Pre-Montgomery, the General Medical Council (GMC)3 provided guidance on the type of information that patients may need to know before making a decision and recommends that doctors should do their best to find out about patients individual needs and priorities when providing information about treatment options.

Where the patient makes clear that they do not wish to be given this level of information, this should be clearly documented and respected. The reality facing care practitioners in current practice is that time pressures can leave little opportunity to discuss at length the diagnoses or available treatment options. However, this does not change the fundamental legal requirement that surgeons and doctors allocate sufficient time for a discussion that will allow them to understand the individual patient and their needs. According to the judges in Montgomery, 'even those who have less skill or inclination for communication, or are more hurried, are obliged to pause and engage in the discussion which the law requires'.

For examples of how the law has been applied post-Montgomery, please refer to the relevant case law section (Appendix 1).

A signature on a consent form does not remove the requirement for this discussion to take place or the requirement for the full and proper documentation of this discussion.

#### Provision of patient information

The provision of information is central to the consent process. Patients require comprehensive and comprehensible information about their condition before they are in a position to make a decision about treatment. This must include the risks and benefits of all possible treatments, the option of doing nothing and comparative risks with other treatments. Individuals also need to know whether additional treatments are likely to be necessary as part of the management plan.

Discussions with patients may need to be supported using written material, visual or other aids. Referring to particular websites, advocacy services, expert patient programmes or support groups may prompt the patient to ask further questions to more fully understand the treatment being proposed. However, any patient information must always be accurate, up-to-date and reflect best practice. The use of patient information leaflets is considered to be an effective method to provide patients with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> GMC is currently updating their consent guidance: new guidance should be available early 2020.

the information they need to make an informed decision. Patients are able to review the information after their consultation.

However, the use of alternatives sources of information must not be regarded as providing the patient with all of the necessary information for the purpose of obtaining consent; this does not satisfy the obligations of care practitioners. Obtaining valid consent is a process which involves effective communication and dialogue.

Any information given to patients must include details about how to contact the appropriate care team to ascertain further information should it be required. Where possible, it is much quicker and easier for the patient to contact a member of their care team by phone, rather than to wait for another appointment.

FNHC recognises it is sometimes difficult because of time pressures and limited resources available, to give patients as much information or support in making decisions as we would like. Consideration should be given to the role that other services and other members of the care team might play, for example, Nurse Specialists, Rapid Response and Reablement Team, Diabetic Centre and Hospice. However, the responsibility for information provision lies with the practitioner seeking consent.

In addition to providing information, care must be taken to ensure that patients have understood the information. This is particularly important for patients admitted onto caseload where the opportunity for prolonged discussion is limited. If a patient has any queries or concerns then they must be given time to consider any additional information.

Remember, acquiescence, where the patient does not know what the intervention involves, is not valid consent.

#### 3. PROCEDURE

#### 3.1 Communication

To support decision-making and facilitate communication, interpreters or communication aids must be used as appropriate. Accurate exchanges of information are paramount and it is the aim of FNHC to ensure that a range of communication aids are provided for those people for whom English is not their first language or who may have a disability where communication is impaired visually or audibly.

Written information is available for a number of topics in languages commonly read by local patients. Large-print versions are available on request for patients with impaired vision. Interpreters via <a href="https://example.com/The-Big Word">The Big Word</a> and the care provider are available for those patients unable to read the written information provided.

Where necessary the use of HCS Interpreting services are available to FNHC service users, please contact Head of Information Governance & Systems for further guidance.

Other factors to consider in relation to communication include:

- poor numerical literacy hindering quantification of risk
- medical illiteracy leading to lack of understanding of medical terminology
- using simple language and avoiding jargon: use of pictures / objects may be useful
- different preferences for types of learning, (e.g.) visual, auditory

- ensuring the patient feels at ease
- accommodate a patient's wishes to have another person involved in discussions to support the understanding of information and to help them in making a decision, but remember the issue of coercion or duress
- where appropriate, those who know the patient well, including their family, carers and staff from professional or voluntary support services, may be able to advise on the best ways to communicate with the person
- patients with additional needs, such as those with disabilities, must be given the time and support they require to make a decision

#### 3.2 Who should seek consent?

The care practitioner providing the care or treatment is responsible for ensuring that the person has given valid consent before beginning the treatment. This is the individual who will be deemed responsible in law if the process of consent is challenged later.

#### 3.3 Care practitioners delegating consent

General Medical Council (2020) guidance states that the task of seeking consent may be delegated to another person. This is provided that such person:

- is suitably trained
- has sufficient knowledge of the proposed investigation or treatment and understands the risks involved
- understands and agrees to act in accordance with this FNHC policy and the relevant regulatory body guidance

If the task of seeking consent is delegated, it is the responsibility of the care practitioner performing the treatment to ensure that the patient has given valid consent before the treatment is started.

This can include:

- Registered nurses
- Paediactric nurses
- Specialist nurses
- Advanced nurse practitioners
- Specialist physiotherapists
- Specialist occupational therapists

Inappropriate delegation invalidates the consent process.

If a care practitioner seeks consent for a treatment they are not competent to perform themselves, an Assure must be completed. Additionally, anyone who feels pressurised or is inappropriately asked to seek consent, should contact their Team Leader or Operational Lead.

#### 3.4When should consent be sought?

Consent should be a process rather than a one-off event; information giving, discussion and decision-making. This process may take place at one time (single

stage) or over a series of appointments and discussions, depending upon the complexity of what is proposed and the urgency of the patient's condition.

For all interventions, it is good practice where possible to seek the patient's consent to the proposed treatment in advance, when there is time to respond to the patient's questions and provide adequate information. However, this may not always be possible.

#### 3.4.1 Single stage process

In certain cases, it will be appropriate for a care practitioner to begin a treatment immediately after discussing it. As long as the elements for valid consent are satisfied, the care practitioner may proceed. However, if the proposed treatment is complex, it is unlikely that valid consent could be properly accomplished in a single stage process, so health care professionals must take into account whether the patient has had adequate time to think about the information in order to reach their decision.

Similarly, if a proposed treatment involves risks that the patient would attach significance to; care practitioners must take into consideration whether the patient has had sufficient time to consider the information necessary for them to reach a decision, proceeding only if it is clear that the patient understands and gives consent.

#### 3.4.2 Multi-stage process

In other cases, treatment options may be discussed in advance of the proposed treatment. This may be on one occasion (clinic / home appointment), or it might be over a series of consultations with a number of different care practitioners; thus, the consent process has a number of stages. The EMIS records must be used as a means of documenting all these stages.

Once a patient confirms they wish to go ahead and entry should be made in the medical record.

Immediately before the treatment, it is necessary to ensure that the patient's condition has not changed, that they do not have any further concerns and still give their consent. If any queries or concerns are raised, they must be given time to consider any additional information.

Throughout the consent process, the patient must feel that it would have always been possible for them to refuse consent or change their mind. If a person is not asked to give consent until just before the treatment is due to start, at a time when they may be feeling vulnerable and do not have the opportunity to ask questions, there may be real doubts as to its validity.

For a course of treatments, consent to continue should be confirmed before each individual component, with any changes to the risks, benefits or alternatives fully discussed and documented.

#### 3.5 Form of consent

The validity of consent does not depend on the form in which it is given. A signed consent form serves as evidence of consent. If the elements of capacity, voluntariness and appropriate information have not been satisfied, a signature on a form will not make the consent valid.

Consent may be expressed non-verbally or verbally. An example of non-verbal consent would be where a patient, after receiving the appropriate information, holds out an arm for their blood pressure to be taken. However, the patient must have

DATE APPROVED 02/12/20

understood what examination or treatment is intended, why, and the consequences, for such consent to be valid.

In the case of minor or routine investigations or treatment, if the care practitioner is satisfied that the patient understands what is proposed and why, it is usually enough to obtain verbal / non-verbal consent8.

Whilst the process of obtaining consent is a legal requirement, the completion of a consent form is not.

It is essential to clearly document a patient's agreement or refusal and the discussion(s) which led to it. This may be done through documenting directly in the patients notes and / or electronically on EMIS. Irrespective of whether consent is expressed verbally or non-verbally, the key elements of the discussion with the patient which must be recorded include:

- the information discussed
- any specific requests by the patient
- any written, visual or audio information given to the patient
- any external resources patients may be directed to, for example, websites, organisations
- details of any decisions made

If there is any dispute over whether valid consent was obtained, the key issue will not be whether the patient signed a form or not, but whether they were given all the information they needed to make a considered decision. It is therefore important to document the essential elements of discussions with the patient, using the consent principles as a framework.

#### 3.6 Duration of consent

When a person gives valid consent, that consent remains valid unless it is withdrawn by the patient. However, it is good practice to confirm that the patient who has given consent still wishes the treatment to proceed, even if no new information needs to be provided or further questions answered. GMC guidance states that an appropriate care practitioner should reconfirm consent, particularly if:

- a significant amount of time has passed since the initial decision has been made
- there have been any material changes in the condition of the patient
- new information becomes available regarding the proposed treatment or alternative treatment options

If a patient's condition has changed significantly in-between visits, it is necessary to seek consent again on the basis that the likely benefits and / or risks may have changed.

#### 3.7 Qualified (restricted consent)

For religious or other personal reasons, some patients may qualify (restrict) their consent to treatment by refusing specific aspects of that treatment.

If a patient gives consent with restriction(s), the precise nature of the restriction(s) that has been imposed by the patient should be clearly documented in the patient's electronic record. The records should reflect that the patient has been informed of the

likely consequences of this decision, together with the reasons why such a treatment was proposed in the first place.

Qualified (restricted) consent does not remove a patient's right to reasonable and proper care, including provision of all other forms of treatment that are appropriate in the circumstances. However, if a care practitioner does not feel able to provide proper care consistent with the patient's wishes, then the care practitioner can refuse to treat the patient, provided that no additional harm is likely to result from that refusal and reasonable attempts are made to find a different care practitioner who is willing to treat the patient.

#### 3.8 When consent is refused

If the process of seeking consent is to be meaningful, refusal must be one of the patient's options.

If a person with capacity makes a voluntary and appropriately informed decision to refuse treatment (contemporaneously or in advance), even if the care practitioner thinks this decision is wrong or irrational, this decision must be respected, except in circumstances defined by the Mental Health (Jersey) Law 20164 (see section 4.28).

If after discussion of all possible treatment options, a person refuses all treatment, this must be escalated to the relevant Operational Lead with overall responsibility and the facts should be clearly documented in the patient's EMIS record.

Where a patient has refused a particular intervention, the healthcare practitioner should continue to provide appropriate care to which the patient has consented and that the patient is made aware that they are free to change their mind and accept treatment if they later wish to do so. Where delay may affect their treatment choices, patients must be advised accordingly.

#### 3.9 Advance decisions to refuse treatment

A person may have made an ADRT in anticipation of a time where they lack capacity or are unable to communicate a decision. A valid and applicable ADRT has the same force as a contemporaneous decision to refuse treatment.

#### 3.10 Withdrawal of consent

A person with capacity is entitled to withdraw consent at any time, including during treatment.

Where a patient does withdraw consent during treatment, it is good practice to stop the treatment if possible, establish the concerns of the patient and explain the consequences of not completing the treatment. All reasonable and practicable steps should be taken to alleviate any symptoms of pain, fear or anxiety. If stopping during the treatment at that point would put the life of the patient at immediate risk or cause significant harm, continue until that risk no longer exists.

#### 3.11 Consent to photography

Consent to photography must be obtained and the service-user informed photographs will be held electronically to form part of the service-users care record. Please refer to FNHC Consent to Photography Policy for further guidance on clinical and non-clinical photography.

<sup>4</sup> The Mental Health (Jersey) Law 1969 applies to those who may have, or are diagnosed as having a mental disorder and defines the circumstances in which patients can be admitted, detained and treated in hospital without consent.

#### 3.12 Consent for diagnostic investigations

Some procedures are primarily technical investigations carried out at the request of a referring care practitioner, for example, doppler ultrasound testing and clinical investigations. In these cases, the healthcare practitioner must explain to the patient how the proposed procedure fits into the plan of care and which reasonable alternatives exist. The referrer must also be able to explain in broad terms, the material risks associated with the procedure for which they are being referred.

The healthcare practitioner responsible for performing the procedure must ensure that the patient has been given enough time and the appropriate information to make an informed decision and be in a position to answer any further questions the patient may have before undertaking it. The care practitioner will then be in a position to confirm that valid consent has been given.

#### 3.13 Consent for the processing, analysis and storage of clinical samples

Samples of blood, body fluids or other biological materials are often obtained for analysis following a clinical consultation. The care practitioner takes a history from the service-user and may or may not perform a clinical examination before deciding which tests to perform. It is important to understand that additionally, the biological material that is submitted for laboratory investigation will be retained for a reasonable period and that it may be used anonymously for internal quality control, research, and development of new laboratory methods. The care giver must explain this to the service user, who may decline to consent to these activities and if they do decline the care practitioner must ensure the laboratory is made aware.

The responsibility to obtain valid consent lies with the care practitioner so it is appropriate for laboratory staff to presume that the care practitioner or the person to whom the task of obtaining and sending the sample was delegated to, has obtained valid consent. It is equally reasonable to assume that this consent extends to additional testing that may be indicated by the results of initial tests and it is important that this is explained to the patient by the care practitioner. The laboratory is not required to confirm this. It should also be understood by all parties (and it is the care practitioner's responsibility to ensure the service-user understands), that the results of investigations will become part of the service-user's care record and will be available to other clinicians who the service-user consults in future.

As a clinical scenario develops, consent for processing and analysing samples is valid if a further investigation remains within the scope of the original consent and if the service-user has been informed that further investigations may be required. Effective communication between laboratory staff and clinical staff is essential in such circumstances.

Remember, service-users have the right to exclude the performance of specific tests. If a potentially valid investigation is excluded from the consent, it is important that the care practitioner advises the laboratory of this.

#### 3.14 Consent to participate in research

The principles set out within this document apply more widely to include decisions on taking part in research. Those who are involved in research 'must be satisfied that you have consent or other valid authority before you carry out any examination or investigation, provide treatment or involve patients or volunteers in teaching or research' (GMC, 2010).

The general principles of consent are applicable to participate in research:

- Does the patient have capacity to consent to participation?
- Is consent to participate given voluntarily?
- Has the patient received sufficient information and has this been understood?
- How is this communicated?
- Who has responsibility for seeking consent?

The key elements of the discussion about the decision-making process must be recorded and where practical, signed consent should be requested.

With the participant's consent, the General practitioner (GP) and other care practitioner's responsible for their care, should be informed about their involvement in the research project and any other information necessary to continuing care. This applies to participants who are both patients and healthy volunteers. If a participant objects to this, the potential consequences of not sharing such information should be discussed. If the participant continues to object, this decision must be respected unless sharing is justified in the public interest.

For more detailed guidance please refer to <u>GMC (2013) Good practice in research</u> and consent to research

Advice must always be sought from the local research ethics committee.

#### 3.15 Consent to student participation

Patients should be asked if they consent to being observed, examined and treated by students. It should be made clear to patients that they have the right to refuse without detriment to the care that they receive. Students should always introduce themselves to patients, including identity and status.

Where the procedure will further the care of patient, for example, performing insulin administration, then if the student is appropriately trained in the procedure, the fact that it is carried out by a student does not alter the nature and purpose of the procedure. It is therefore not a legal requirement to tell the patient that the person carrying out the procedure is a student, although it would always be best practice to do so. The general principles of consent must be followed.

Where the proposed procedure is to further the education of the student, it is essential to explain this to the patient. Consent to this must also be documented in the patients' electronic notes.

#### 3.16 Consent in an emergency situation

When an emergency arises and it is not possible to find out a patient's wishes, patients can be treated without their consent. However, the treatment must be immediately necessary to save their life or to prevent a serious deterioration of their condition.

Ongoing care should be provided on this basis for as long as the patient lacks capacity. If the patient regains capacity whilst in care, they must be informed about what has been done and why; this conversation should take place as soon as they are sufficiently recovered to understand8.

The College of Emergency Medicine (CEM) provides comprehensive information on this issue. However, please note that the reference to the Bolam test is out-dated and the principles in Montgomery must be applied.

#### 3.17 Consent and the Mental Health (Jersey) Law 2016

The Mental Health (Jersey) Law 2016 provides ways of assessing, treating and caring for people who have a serious impairment or a disturbance in the functioning of their mind or brain to the extent that this puts them or other people at risk.

The Mental Health Law sets out when:

- people with an impairment or a disturbance in the functioning of their mind or brain can be detained in hospital for a period of assessment or treatment
- people who are detained can be given treatment for the impairment or disturbance without their consent
- people with an impairment or a disturbance in the functioning of their mind or brain can be made subject to Guardianship in order to protect them or other people

The Mental Health Law (MHL) does not distinguish between people who have capacity to make decisions and those who do not. Many people subject to the provisions of the MHL have the capacity to make decisions for themselves. Most people who lack capacity to make decisions about their treatment will never be affected by the MHL, even if they need treatment for an impairment or a disturbance in the functioning of their mind or brain (Capacity and Self-Determination Law (2016) Code of Practice, p.144).

More detailed information can be found at MHL Code of Practice. This also lists the types of treatment for which consent and a second opinion would be required.

#### 3.18 Consent for prescribing and administering unlicensed medication

The term 'unlicensed medicine' is used to describe medicines that are used outside the terms of their license or which have no license. However, there are clinical situations when the use of unlicensed medicines or use of medicines outside the terms of the license may be judged by prescriber to be in the best interest of the patient on the basis of available evidence.

The general principles of obtaining valid consent apply; capacity, voluntariness and appropriate information.

Where current research supports the use of a medicine outside the terms of its license, it may not be necessary to draw attention to the license when seeking consent. However, it is best practice to give as much information as patients require. If there is little evidence to support the use of an unlicensed medication, you must explain this to the patient.

For more detailed guidance please refer to <u>GMC</u>: <u>Good practice in prescribing and managing medicines and devices</u> and the current <u>FNHC Medicines Policy</u>.

#### 3.19 Consent and the Law Officers' Department

The Safeguarding Team at the Law Officers' Department (LOD) can be contacted during office hours for advice in relation to consent matters. However, such situations should be anticipated so that advice can be sought well in advance i.e. before an emergency situation develops out-of-hours.

Applications for advice to the LOD must be made by the Consultant (if appropriate) or the Operational Lead in charge of the service-users care.

#### 3.20 Persons unable to make decisions

A person lacks capacity in relation to a matter if at the material time they are unable to make a decision for themselves in relation to the matter because of an impairment of, or a disturbance in the functioning of, the mind or brain. The CSDL provides a framework to support people (over the age of 16 years) to make decisions for themselves or, failing that, to ensure that decisions are made for the person in the persons best interests.

It is underpinned by five core principles. Of relevance to those people who lack capacity are:

Principle 4: Anything done for or on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must be done in their best interests.

Principle 5: The purpose for which an act is done or a decision is made on behalf of a person who lacks capacity should be achieved in ways that are least restrictive to the person concerned. The care practitioner providing treatment or care must decide what is in a person's best interests by taking the following actions:

- Encourage participation All practical and appropriate steps must be taken
  to encourage and support the person lacking capacity to participate as fully as
  possible in any act done for or any decision affecting that person including their
  presence at any discussions in relation to their care and treatment. In addition,
  consider using simple language or illustrations and choosing a time / location
  where the patient feels most at ease.
- Identify all relevant circumstances Try to identify all the points that the
  person who lacks capacity would take into account if they were making the
  decisions or acting for themselves.
- Find out the person's views So far as possible, any determination must include consideration of the past and present wishes and feelings of the person lacking capacity as to the matter in question (in particular if they have been written down), any religious, cultural or moral beliefs or values of that person which would be likely to influence that persons decision if that person did not lack capacity and any other factors which that person would be likely to consider if they did have capacity.

In a recent report, the Law Commission (2017) states there is clear evidence that best interest decisions regularly fail to give any weight or prioritisation to the person's wishes and feelings.

- **Avoid discrimination** Determination as to what is in the best interests of a person lacking capacity must not be made on the basis of the person's age, appearance or any other aspect of his or her condition or behaviour.
- Assess whether the person might regain capacity Consideration must be given as to whether the person is likely to regain capacity and if so, whether the decision can wait until such time.
- Consulting others Where practical and appropriate, consult and consider the
  views of anyone engaged in caring for that person or interested in that person's
  welfare, any individual named by the person lacking capacity as someone to be
  consulted on the matter in question, any individual on whom authority is
  conferred, such as an Independent Capacity Advocate (ICA) or any delegate
  appointed by the Court.

• **Life-sustaining treatment** - Any decision relating to life-sustaining treatment must not be regarded as being in the best interests of a person lacking capacity if the decision is motivated by a desire to bring about that person's death.

In reference to Principle 5, any care practitioner making a decision on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must consider whether it is possible to decide or act in a way that would interfere less with the person's rights and freedom or whether it is necessary to act at all.

For more detailed guidance on capacity, please refer directly to <u>CSDL 2016</u> and <u>CSDL 2016</u> Codes of Practice.

#### 3.21 Young Persons

### 3.21.1 Does the young person have capacity to consent?

The Consent to Medical Treatment (Jersey) Law 1973 provides that young people 16 years of age and over may give valid consent to surgical, medical or dental treatment and its associated procedures. However, there may be a question as to whether all young people aged 16-17 years have capacity to consent to treatment.

The requirements for valid consent are the same as for as adults. For consent to be valid, it must be:

- given by a person with capacity to consent or refuse consent to the intervention in question, or any other legal decision maker
- given voluntarily and freely, without pressure or undue influence being exerted on the patient either to accept or refuse treatment and
- based on appropriate information and understood (informed)

Where a young person has the capacity to consent to treatment or care, their decision must be respected including refusal of treatment.

#### 3.21.2 Has the young person received sufficient information?

The young person must receive the appropriate information in a way that they can understand. This is evidenced by the child or young person being able to demonstrate that understanding.

#### 3.21.3 Is consent given voluntarily?

Although a young person may have the capacity to consent, this is only valid if it is given voluntarily. This requirement must be considered carefully; young people may be subject to undue influence by their parent(s), other carers or a sexual partner. It is important to establish that the decision is in fact their own. The rationale should be documented by the care practitioner.

#### 3.21.4 Young persons with capacity refusing treatment

Where a young person has the capacity to consent to treatment or care, their decision must be respected, this includes refusal of treatment.

#### 3.21.5 Young person unable to make a decision about care / treatment

If a young person does not have the capacity to make a decision, the decision should be made in the young person's best interests; either by the person with parental responsibility or by another appropriate decision maker, following the processes in the CSDL. Even where a young person lacks capacity to consent for themselves, it is good practice to involve the young person as much as possible in the decision-making process.

#### 3.22 Parental Responsibility

Those with parental responsibility include:

- the child's mother, unless the child is legally adopted by someone else
- the child's father, if he was not married to the mother at the time of birth if named on the birth certificate (applies only to births registered after the 2nd December 2016)
- the child's father, if he was married to the mother at the time of birth, or if the child is jointly adopted
- unmarried fathers can acquire parental responsibility in several ways:
- marry the mother of the child and re-register the child's birth
- a formal parental responsibility agreement between himself and the child's mother
- apply for a parental responsibility agreement by application to the Royal Court
- a person in whose favour the court has made a residence order concerning the child
- the Minister, if the child is subject to a Care Order (including an Interim Care Order) or an Emergency Protection Order (also referred to as Children Looked After (CLA))

In the case of parents divorcing, the father retains parental responsibility, provided that he had parental responsibility when married. The parent with whom the child lives with does not have more powers than the other parent.

It is essential that those making decisions are clear about who has parental responsibility and that they always request copies of any court orders for reference on the child or young person's medical or social services record. These orders may include but not limited to residence orders, contact orders, interim and full care orders, and evidence of appointment of tuteur or a guardian (Article 7 Children's Law). If the parents of a child or young person are separated, and the child or young person is living with one parent, the person responsible for the care and treatment of the patient should try to establish whether there is a residence order and if so, in whose favour.

Once it is established who has parental responsibility for the child or young person, the person responsible for the care and treatment of the child or young person must determine whether the person with parental responsibility has the capacity to make a decision about the child or young person's treatment and whether the decision is within the scope of parental control. It should also be noted that the exercise of parental responsibility should be consistent with the child's developing capacity.

Under the Children Law, consent to treat a child or young person is needed from only one person with parental responsibility, however it is good practice to involve all those with parental responsibility and any others with responsibilities in caring for the child in the decision making process and, where possible, to resolve matters by agreement. However, if one person with parental responsibility strongly disagreed with the decision to treat and was likely to challenge it in court, it might be appropriate to seek a declaration from the court that the treatment is in the child's best interests and can be given.

Consent given by one person with parental responsibility is valid even if another person with parental responsibility withholds consent. Where persons with joint

parental responsibility disagree as to whether specific interventions, for example, male circumcision, are in the child's best interests, it is advisable to refer these decisions to the Royal Court.

There is no local legislation related to the decisions that a person with parental responsibility has a right to make on a young person's or child's behalf where the child lacks capacity. These type of questions can arise where a decision relates to proposed treatment which is particularly invasive or controversial. Care practitioners should seek advice where they are unsure whether a person(s) with parental responsibility should make such a decision. Furthermore, where there is doubt about whether a parent is acting in the interests of the young person or child, do not rely on this consent and seek additional advice.

Parental responsibility lasts until a child reaches 18 years of age.

#### 3.22.1 Person with parental responsibility refusing consent

Where necessary, the Royal Court can overrule a refusal by a person with parental responsibility. In situations where there is continuing conflict between those with parental responsibility and care practitioners and the young person is not able to provide valid consent, the Royal Court should be involved to clarify whether the proposed care / treatment or the withholding of treatment is in the young person's best interest.

Parental refusal must only be directly overridden in an emergency. In an emergency, it is justifiable to treat a young person who lacks capacity without the consent of a person with parental responsibility, provided it is not practicable to obtain consent in time and if the treatment is necessary to the survival or health of the young person.

#### 3.23 Children

#### 3.23.1 Young children and babies

When babies or young children are being cared for at home, it is usual experience for the parent or carer to be present so consent is easily accessible and in advance. On occasion the care practitioner may not be able to seek the parents' consent for every routine intervention such as blood or urine test. However, you should remember that, in law, such consent is required. Where a child is admitted to the caseload, you should therefore discuss with their parent(s) what routine procedures will be necessary, and ensure that you have their consent for these interventions in advance. If parents specify that they wish to be asked before particular procedures are initiated, you must do so, unless the delay involved in contacting them would put the child's health at risk.

#### 3.23.2 Children under 16yrs with capacity

The Gillick competency and Fraser5 guidelines help balance the rights and wishes of children with the responsibility of care practitioners to keep children safe from harm. However, they are not interchangeable; Gillick competence refers to the assessment that doctors could make in regards to whether a child under 16 years has the capacity to consent to treatment without parental or guardian consent. The Fraser guidelines

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Fraser guidelines specifically relate to giving contraceptive advice and treatment, treatment of sexually transmitted infections and termination of pregnancy to those under 16 without parental consent. Advice can be given in this situation as long: (s)he has sufficient maturity and intelligence to understand the nature and implications of the proposed treatment, (s)he cannot be persuaded to tell her parents or to allow the doctor to tell them, (s)he is very likely to begin or continue having sexual intercourse with or without contraceptive treatment, his / her physical or mental health is likely to suffer unless given advice or treatment and the advice or treatment is in the young person's best interests.

refer specifically to the responsibility of doctors to ensure adequate capacity of children specifically on receiving contraceptive prescription and advice; it makes no comment on the capacity of children for any other treatments or procedure. The Children's Looked After (CAL) Nurse or school nurse may give advice and signpost to relevant professionals but do not currently prescribe.

Gillick competency refers to a legal case in England where the question of how to assess a child's capacity to consent to medical treatment was considered. The principles established in this case are applicable in Jersey;

"...whether or not a child is capable of giving the necessary consent will depend on the child's maturity and understanding and the nature of the consent required. The child must be capable of making a reasonable assessment of the advantages and disadvantages of the treatment proposed, so the consent, if given, can be properly and fairly described as true consent."

The concept of Gillick competence is said to reflect a child's increasing development to maturity. The understanding for different interventions will vary considerably. A child under the age of 16 years may have the capacity to consent to some treatments but not to others; thus a child's capacity to consent should be assessed carefully in relation to each decision that needs to be made.

If a child is Gillick competent and is able to give voluntary consent after receiving the appropriate information, that consent will be valid; additional consent by a person with parental responsibility is not required. However, where possible it is good practice to involve the child's family in the decision-making process, provided the child consents to their information being shared.

Where advice or treatment relates to contraception or the child's sexual or reproductive health, the care practitioner should explore with the child the benefits of informing the parents or allowing the care practitioner to do so. If after this discussion, the child does not want to inform their parents, advice and / or treatment should still be given if the care practitioner considers that the child is very likely to begin or continue to have sexual intercourse with or without advice or treatment, and that unless they receive the advice or treatment, then the child's physical or mental health is likely to suffer.

Safeguarding of the child is paramount and should be considered alongside this process of decision making.

#### 3.23.3 Is consent given voluntarily?

Although a young person may have the capacity to consent, this is only valid if it is given voluntarily. This requirement must be considered carefully; young people may be subject to undue influence by their parent(s), other carers or a sexual partner. It is important to establish that the decision is in fact their own.

#### 3.23.4 Has the child received sufficient information?

Once the first two requirements have been satisfied, the last requirement for the consent to be valid is that the young person must receive the appropriate information. Information that is given to them in a way that they can understand.

#### 3.23.5 Child with capacity refusing treatment

Where a child has capacity to make the decision in question, a person with parental responsibility cannot override this decision. However, if the consequences of refusing such consent are grave, a representation can be made to the Royal Court to examine

the child's capacity to make the decision and whether it would be appropriate to order treatment despite a refusal.

See section 3.24.3

#### 3.23.6 Child without capacity

If a child does not have the capacity to make a decision, consent can be given on their behalf by any one person with parental responsibility (see section 2.25) or by the Royal Court. Those giving consent on behalf of a child must themselves have the capacity to consent to the intervention in question, be acting voluntarily and be appropriately informed. The power to consent must be exercised according to the 'welfare principle': the child's welfare must be paramount.

3.23.7 Person with parental responsibility refusing consent See section 3.22.1

#### 3.24 Withdrawing and withholding life-sustaining treatment

#### 3.24.1 General principles

The legal and ethical principles underpinning valid consent are the same for all medical interventions, including decisions to withdraw or withhold life-sustaining treatment. However, the issues surrounding seriously ill or dying patients are necessarily more grave and sensitive.

A care practitioner's legal duty is to care for a patient and to take reasonable steps to prolong life. Although there is a strong presumption in favour of providing life-sustaining treatment, there is no absolute obligation to prolong life irrespective of the consequences for the patient. There is no legal distinction between withdrawing and withholding life-sustaining treatment.

A person with capacity may decide either contemporaneously or by a valid ADRT that they have reached a stage where they no longer wish treatment to continue. If a person lacks capacity and no legal decision-maker has been appointed, this decision must be taken in their best interests and in a way that reflects their wishes.

In an emergency situation, where there is doubt as to the appropriateness of treatment, there should be a presumption in favour of providing life-sustaining treatment. When more time is available and the patient lacks capacity, all those concerned with the care of patient can potentially make a contribution to the assessment.

The discussions and basis for all decisions must be recorded in the patient's notes.

There is an important distinction between withdrawing or withholding treatment that is of no benefit to the patient or is not in the patients' best interests and taking a deliberate action to end the patients' life. A deliberate action intended to cause death is unlawful.

There are circumstances when continuing or providing life-sustaining treatment stops providing a benefit to a patient and is not clinically indicated. Care practitioners should discuss the situation with a patient with capacity and agree if and when the patient no longer wishes treatment to continue. If the person lacks capacity, this decision must be taken in their best interests and in a way that reflects their wishes, beliefs and values.

#### 3.24.2 Persons with capacity

If a person with capacity to make the decision in question refuses life-sustaining treatment or requests withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment, comply with this

decision, even if it results in the person's death. If a refusal is ignored, care practitioners will be treating the person unlawfully6.

The case of R (Burke) v GMC [2005] 3 FCR 169, established that an adult patient with capacity does not have the right to demand treatment that is not clinically indicated. Where a patient with capacity indicates his / her wish to be kept alive by the provision of artificial nutrition and hydration (ANH), a duty of care requires the provision of ANH whilst it continues to prolong life.

A person cannot demand that a care practitioner does something unlawful, such as assisting suicide.

#### 3.24.3 Young person and child with capacity

If a young person or child with capacity makes such a request or refusal, it is possible that such a refusal could be overruled if potentially it would lead to the death or to severe, permanent injury. To take a decision which may result in death requires a very high level of understanding; many young people / children with capacity / Gillick competence would be considered to lack the capacity to make such a grave decision.

It is not a legal requirement to continue a child's life-sustaining treatment in all circumstances. Where a child is suffering an illness where the likelihood of survival even with treatment is extremely poor and treatment will pose a burden to the child, it may not be in the best interests of the child to continue treatment.

#### 3.24.3 Persons unable to make a decision

If a person lacks capacity and has not made a valid and applicable ADRT, the provisions of the CSDL will apply and any decision must be based on the best interests of the person. All reasonable steps that are in the person's best interest should be taken to prolong their life, unless there is an appointed decision maker.

Where a patient has indicated whilst they had capacity, his or her wish to be kept alive by the provision of ANH, a duty of care requires the continued provision of ANH whilst such treatment continues to prolong life. Where life depends upon the continued provision of ANH, ANH will be clinically indicated.

#### 3.24.4 Children lacking capacity

If a child lacks capacity, it remains good practice to involve the child as much as possible and as is appropriate in the decision-making process. Any decision to withdraw or withhold life-sustaining treatment must be made in the best interests of the child. In the context of withholding treatment, the best interests of the child should be interpreted more broadly than medical interests and should include emotional and other factors.

A person with parental responsibility for a child or young person is legally entitled to give or refuse consent to treatment. However, there is a strong presumption in favour of preserving life but where treatment would be futile, there is no obligation to provide such treatment. A person with parental responsibility cannot demand a particular treatment to be continued where the burden of treatment outweighs the benefits for the child. If there is disagreement between those with parental responsibility and the clinical team concerning the most appropriate course of action, the matter should be referred to the Royal Court. The views of the parents are very influential but in exceptional cases, English Courts have been willing to authorise the withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment against parents' wishes where they conflict with the best interests of the child.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Re B (Adult, refusal of medical treatment) [2002] 2 ALL ER 449.

DATE APPROVED 02/12/20

#### 3.25 Overview of the consent process

An overview of the consent process can be found in appendix 2.

#### 4. CONSULTATION PROCESS

Name	Title	Date
Judy Foglia	Quality and Governance Lead	17 February 2020
Claire White	Head of Quality, Governance and Care.	17 February 2020
Elspeth Snowie	Clinical Effectiveness Facilitator	17 February 2020
Claire Whelan	Head of Information Governance & Systems	17 February 2020
Clare Stewart	Op Lead RRRT	17 February 2020
Michelle Cumming	Op Lead Children's Services	17 February 2020
Tia Hall	Op Lead Adult Services	17 February 2020
Jenny Querns	Safeguarding Lead for Adults and Children	17 February 2020

#### 5. IMPLEMENTATION PLAN

Action	Responsible Person	Planned timeline
Email to all staff	Education and Development Secretary/Administrative Assistant	Within 2 weeks of ratification
Policy to be uploaded to procedural library	Education and Development Secretary/Administrative Assistant	Within 2 weeks of ratification

#### 6. MONITORING COMPLIANCE

Compliance with policy will be identified through ad hoc miscellaneous audits. It will also be monitored during investigations into practice where this is applicable.

#### 7. EQUALITY IMPACT STATEMENT

A statement to show that the document does not discriminate against disadvantaged or vulnerable people

Family Nursing & Home Care is committed to ensuring that, as far as is reasonably practicable, the way services are provided to the public and the way staff are treated reflects their individual needs and does not discriminate against individuals or groups on any grounds.

DATE APPROVED 02/12/20

This policy document forms part of a commitment to create a positive culture of respect for all individuals including staff, patients, their families and carers as well as community partners. The intention is to identify, remove or minimise discriminatory practice in the areas of race, disability, gender, sexual orientation, age and 'religion, belief, faith and spirituality' as well as to promote positive practice and value the diversity of all individuals and communities.

The Family Nursing & Home Care values underpin everything done in the name of the organisation. They are manifest in the behaviours employees display. The organisation is committed to promoting a culture founded on these values.

#### Always:

- ✓ Putting patients first
- ✓ Keeping people safe
- ✓ Have courage and commitment to do the right thing
- ✓ Be accountable, take responsibility and own your actions
- ✓ Listen actively
- ✓ Check for understanding when you communicate
- ✓ Be respectful and treat people with dignity
- ✓ Work as a team.

This policy should be read and implemented with the Organisational Values in mind at all times. See Equality Impact Assessment for this policy in appendix 3.

#### 8. GLOSSARY OF TERMS

#### Advance decision to refuse treatment (ADRT)

A decision made by a person with capacity to make decisions about future care and treatment for times when they lack the capacity to make the decisions for themselves.

#### **Battery**

Battery is the intentional and direct application of force to another without consent.

#### **Best interests**

Any decision made, or anything done for a person who lacks capacity to make specific decisions, must be in the person's best interests; taking into account the person's wishes and feelings and their physical, psychological, emotional and social needs17.

#### Capacity

Capacity is the ability to make a decision.

#### Consent

Consent refers to the rights of patients to decide what, if any, clinical care they are to receive and the duty of the care practitioner to ensure that patients have given their permission prior to any care-giving, treatment, examination or intervention. For consent to be valid, it must be:

- given by a person with capacity to consent or refuse consent to the intervention in question, or any other legal decision maker
- given voluntarily and freely, without pressure or undue influence being exerted on the patient either to accept or refuse treatment and
- based on appropriate information and understood (informed)

#### Child(ren)

For the purpose of this policy, refers to people aged under 16 years.

#### **Decision-maker**

A decision-maker may be required to make decisions or act on behalf of someone who lacks capacity to make decisions for themselves: it is the decision-maker's responsibility to work out what would be in the best interests of the person who lacks capacity. A range of different decision-makers may be involved with a person who lacks capacity to make different decisions.

#### Care professional / practitioner / provider

A person who provides any form of health or social care. This ranges from those individuals providing assistance with personal care to those performing nursing procedures. At times the terms are used interchangeably.

#### Independent Capacity Advocate (ICA)

An ICA may be involved in the decision making process relating to serious medical treatment or changes in long-term residence where a person has nobody else who is willing and able to represent them or be consulted in the process of working out their best interests.

#### Lack of capacity

A person lacks capacity in relation to a matter if at the material time he / she is unable to make a decision for him / herself in relation to the matter because of an impairment of, or a disturbance in the functioning of, the mind or brain.

#### Negligence

DATE APPROVED 02/12/20

Conduct that falls below the standards of behaviour established by law for the protection of others against unreasonable risk of harm. A person has acted negligently if he or she has departed from the conduct expected of a reasonably prudent person acting under similar circumstances.

#### Parental responsibility

Refers to the rights, duties, powers, responsibilities and authority which by law, a parent has in relation to a child.

#### Person / patient

An adult who receives any form of care. Reference to persons also includes clients and service-users. At times the terms are used interchangeably.

#### Young person

For the purpose of this policy, refers to people age 16-17 years.

#### 9. REFERENCES

Alzheimer's Association. (2017). Sleep issues and sundowning. Available: <a href="https://www.alz.org/help-support/caregiving/stages-behaviors/sleep-issues-sundowning">https://www.alz.org/help-support/caregiving/stages-behaviors/sleep-issues-sundowning</a> Last accessed 04th December 2019.

Bolam v. Friern Hospital Management Committee (1957) 1 WLR 583.

Burke v GMC (2005) 3 FCR 169

Capacity and Self-Determination (Jersey) Law 2016

Department of Constitutional Affairs. (2007). Mental Capacity Act 2005 Code of Practice,

Available:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach ment\_data/file/497253/Mental-capacity-act-code-of-practice.pdf, last accessed 10th December 2019

Department of Health (2009) Reference guide to consent for examination or treatment (Second edition), London, DH.

Department of Health. (2009) Off-label or unlicensed use of medicines: prescribers' responsibilities. Available: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/drug-safety-update/off-label-or-unlicensed-use-of-medicines-prescribers-responsibilities">https://www.gov.uk/drug-safety-update/off-label-or-unlicensed-use-of-medicines-prescribers-responsibilities</a> Last accessed 11th December 2019

General Medical Council (2010) Good practice in research and consent in research (updated March 2013). Available: <a href="https://www.gmc-uk.org/-/media/documents/good-practice-in-research-and-consent-to-research\_pdf-">https://www.gmc-uk.org/-/media/documents/good-practice-in-research-and-consent-to-research\_pdf-</a>

58834843.pdf?la=en&hash=9AF84CA914317D54BB27A94CA3ABD1B3654D9F2E

General Medical Council. (2013). Good practice in prescribing and managing medicines devices. Available: <a href="https://www.gmc-uk.org/ethical-guidance/ethical-guidance-for-doctors/prescribing-and-managing-medicines-and-devices">https://www.gmc-uk.org/ethical-guidance/ethical-guidance-for-doctors/prescribing-and-managing-medicines-and-devices</a> Last accessed 11th December 2019

General Medical Council. (2020) Consent: patients and doctors making decisions together Available: <a href="https://www.gmc-uk.org/ethical-guidance/ethical-guidance-for-doctors/decision-making-and-consent">https://www.gmc-uk.org/ethical-guidance/ethical-guidance-for-doctors/decision-making-and-consent</a> Last accessed 9th November 2020

Gillick v West Norfolk & Wisbech Area Health Authority (1985) UKHL 7.

Law Commission (2017) Mental Capacity and Deprivation of Liberty. OGL, London.

Montgomery v Lanarkshire Health Board (2015) UKSC 11.

National Health Service. (2019) Assessing Capacity, Available: <a href="https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/consent-to-treatment/capacity/">https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/consent-to-treatment/capacity/</a> Last accessed 30th December 2019

Royal College of Surgeons. (2016). Consent: Support Decision-Making. Available: <a href="https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/standards-and-research/standards-and-guidance/good-practice-guides/consent/">https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/standards-and-research/standards-and-guidance/good-practice-guides/consent/</a> Last accessed 04th December 2019

Sokol, D. (2015) Update on the UK law consent, Available: https://www.bmj.com/content/350/bmj.h1481.full Last accessed 11th December 2019

The College of Emergency Medicine. (2013) Best Practice Guideline: Consent, Capacity and Restraint of Adults, Adolescents and Children in Emergency

DATE APPROVED 02/12/20

Departments. Available:

https://www.rcem.ac.uk/docs/College%20Guidelines/5z4.%20Consent,%20Capacity %20and%20Restraint%20of%20Adults,%20Adolescents%20and%20Children%20in %20Emergency%20Departments%20(July%202013).pdf Last accessed 11th December 2019

Webster (A Child) v. Burton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (2017) EWCA Civ 62.

#### Legislation

- Capacity and Self-Determination (Jersey) Law 2016
- Care Act (2014)
- Children's Act 1989
- Children (Jersey) Law 2002
- Consent to Medical Treatment (Jersey) Law 1973
- European Convention on Human Rights
- United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 1989
- Family Reform Act (1987)
- Human Rights Act (1998)
- Human Rights (Jersey) Law 2000
- Mental health Act (1983)
- Mental Capacity Act (2005)
- Regulation of Care (Jersey) Law 2014
- Sexual Offences (Jersey) Law 2018

#### 10. APPENDICES

#### Appendix 1 Case Law

#### The Bolam test

Bolam v. Friern Hospital Management Committee [1957] 1 WLR 583.

The plaintiff suffered harm in hospital whilst undergoing ECT treatment. It was held that the relevant standard of care was that of 'the ordinary skilled man exercising and professing to have that special skill'.

According to Bolam, 'a doctor is not guilty of negligence if he has acted in accordance with a practice accepted as proper by a responsible body of medical men skilled in that particular art'. In Sidaway v Board of Governors of Bethlehem Royal Hospital, the Bolam standard was applied to the information given as well as the treatment chosen and the method of carrying out.

#### Gillick competency

Gillick v West Norfolk & Wisbech Area Health Authority [1985] UKHL 7.

In 1982, Mrs Gillick took her local health authority and the Department of Health and Social Security to court in an attempt to stop doctors from giving contraceptive advice or treatment to children under the age of 16 years without parental consent.

The case went to the House of Lords where Mrs Gillick's claims were dismissed:

"whether or not a child is capable of giving the necessary consent will depend on the child's maturity and understanding and the nature of the consent required. The child must be capable of making a reasonable assessment of the advantages and disadvantages of the treatment proposed, so the consent, if given, can be properly and fairly described as true consent."

#### Standard of informed consent

Montgomery v Lanarkshire Health Board [2015] UKSC 11.

Nadine Montgomery was a woman with diabetes, who raised concerns with her then consultant obstetrician (Dr McLellan) that she might not be able to deliver vaginally. Dr McLellan did not discuss the risk of shoulder dystocia; withholding the information on the grounds that it might have discouraged her from having a vaginal delivery. Her child was born with serious disabilities as a result of shoulder dystocia during delivery.

The law now requires a doctor to take 'reasonable care to ensure that the patient is aware of any material risks involved in any recommended treatment and of any reasonable alternative or variant treatment'. Material risk is defined in law as either a risk to which a reasonable person in the patients position would be likely to attach significance, or a risk that a doctor knows — or should reasonably know — would be deemed of significance by this particular patient.

# The effect of coercion/pressure on patient consent

Re T (Adult) [1992] 4 All ER 649.

T, a 20-year-old pregnant woman, was injured in a car accident and developed complications that required blood transfusions. She did not indicate on admission that she was opposed to receiving transfusions but after spending some time with her mother, who was a practising Jehovah's Witness, she decided to refuse the treatment.

The Court of Appeal considered that T had been pressurised by her mother and that her ability to decide about the transfusions was further impaired by the drugs with which she was being treated. The Court allowed the blood transfusions to proceed. A patient's consent to a particular treatment may not be valid if it is given under pressure or duress exerted by another person.

#### **Capacity to refuse treatment**

Re MB (Adult, medical treatment) [1997] 38 BMLR 175 CA.

MB needed a caesarean section, but withheld consent to this procedure on account of her needle phobia. The hospital obtained a judicial declaration that it would be lawful to carry out the procedure, a decision that MB appealed. However, she subsequently agreed to induction of anaesthesia and her baby was born by caesarean section.

The Court of Appeal upheld the judges' view that MB had not, at the time, been competent to refuse treatment, taking the view that her fear and panic had impaired her capacity to take in the information she was given about her condition and the proposed treatment.

An individual's capacity to make particular decisions may fluctuate or be temporarily affected by factors such as pain, fear, confusion or the effects of medication.

Assessment of capacity must be time and decision-specific.

Right of a patient who has capacity to refuse life-prolonging treatment

Re B (Adult, refusal of medical treatment) [2002] 2 All ER 449

Following an illness, patient B became tetraplegic and reliant on a ventilator. She requested that the ventilator that was keeping her alive be switched off and claimed that the continued provision of artificial ventilation against her wishes was unlawful. An application was made to the Court to decide whether patient B had the capacity to make the decision about whether the ventilator should be removed. The Court held that she had capacity to refuse treatment and had therefore been treated unlawfully.

Where a patient has the capacity to make decisions about treatment, they have the right to refuse treatment, even where the consequences of such decision could lead to their death. If a care practitioner feels unable to carry out the wishes of the patient, their duty is to find another doctor who will do so.

# No legal right to demand a treatment that is not clinically indicated *R (Burke) v. GMC* [2005] 3 FCR 169.

Mr. Burke suffered from a congenital degenerative brain condition, meaning he would eventually need artificial nutrition and hydration (ANH). Medical evidence indicates that he is likely to retain full cognitive faculties even during the end stage of this disease and that he will retain, almost until the end, insight and awareness of the pain, discomfort and extreme distress that would result from malnutrition and dehydration. He was concerned that before those final stages, the GMC guidelines may lead doctors withdrawing ANH when he wished to continue to receive it no matter the pain and suffering. He sought a declaration that the guidance was incompatible with the ECHR.

This case established that an adult patient with capacity does not have the legal right to demand treatment that is not clinically indicated. However, where a patient with capacity indicated his / her wish to be kept alive by the provision of ANH, the care practitioner's duty of care will require them to provide ANH while such treatment continues to prolong life.

#### **Application of the Montgomery principle**

Kathleen Jones v. Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust [2015] (unreported).

Mrs. Jones suffered from a central spinal canal stenosis and after trying a number of alternative treatments, elected to undergo surgery performed by Mr. Chan (a highly regarded Consultant Orthopaedic Spinal Surgeon). After having to cut short her

holiday due to pain, Mrs. Jones saw her GP for advice on whether it was possible to bring the surgery forward; she was advised that this would result in the surgery being carried out by a more junior surgeon. Mrs. Jones followed her GP's advice to wait for Mr. Chan to perform the operation.

Mrs. Jones was informed by a nurse just prior to going into theatre that Mr. Chan was not available and a different surgeon would be performing the surgery. Mrs. Jones was not afforded the opportunity to weigh up her options; she felt that she was "beyond the point of no return" and accordingly saw through the surgery. Unfortunately the operation did not go without complication and Mrs. Jones has been left with Cauda Equina syndrome.

Although the judge did not accept that the surgeon had been negligent in his conduct of the operation, he accepted expert evidence to the effect that there is a much lesser risk of such complications occurring where the surgery is carried out by a more experienced surgeon therefore it was "more likely than not that Mrs. Jones would not have suffered the injury had her operation been performed by Mr. Chan".

The Court found that Mrs. Jones had been deprived of the right to choose by whom she was operated on. However, in this case there is compelling evidence that the choice of surgeon was important to her. The fact that the consent form states that there is 'no guarantee as to the identity of the surgeon', this did not prevent the court from finding the Trust liable for not providing the surgeon chosen by the claimant.

Although only a county court decision, this demonstrates the wide-reaching applications of Montgomery. The patient's right to be fully informed is clear and the courts are prepared to back up where care practitioners fail to fulfil their duty to inform of all issues that are material to that particular patient.

Spencer v. Hillingdon Hospital NHS Trust [2015] EWHC 1058

The claimant developed bilateral pulmonary emboli following surgery to repair an inguinal hernia. The Court considered Montgomery and found that the defendant trust had failed to advise the Claimant of the risk of pulmonary embolus.

Webster (A Child) v. Burton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust [2017] EWCA Civ 62 Sebastian Butler was born on 7th January 2003. He was born with cerebral palsy and has profound physical and cognitive impairment. The High Court heard how Sebastian's mother, Ms Butler, had wanted to have her baby induced, but the Consultant advising Ms Butler did not wish her to be induced and wanted her labour to proceed to a natural delivery. As a result, Sebastian was left with life-changing disabilities and profound brain damage after his umbilical cord was compressed, meaning that his brain was starved of oxygen in the days prior to his delivery. It was agreed between the parties that his disabilities were caused by a brain injury as a result of a short period of cord compression, occurring 48-72 hours before his birth. It was further agreed that had he been delivered before 4 January 2002, he would have avoided the brain injury and its consequences.

The appellant lost her case at first instance; applying the Bolam test, the High Court found that there was a reasonable and responsible body of obstetric opinion that would have acted in the same way as the Consultant had done, and would not have altered the case management plan.

The appellant appealed to the Court of Appeal that held since Montgomery, it was not appropriate to apply Bolam and that they therefore had to consider what advice and information her obstetrician should have given Ms Butler and what her response would have been. The Court of Appeal heard that had repeated ultrasound scanning been

carried out, the distress that the foetus was showing and the fact that it was small for its gestational age would have been identified. In that instance the mother would have wished to be induced as she wouldn't have wanted to delay the birth any longer.

Therefore, the Court of Appeal re-affirmed the decision in Montgomery, deciding that the mother's wish to be induced should have been followed. This decision underlines that the role of the doctor is as a medical advisor, and not as the decision maker.

In addition, it is clear that the courts will take a wide range of factors into consideration (including educational background), and that doctors are now required to have a deeper understanding of a patient's concerns.

Lisa Thefaut v Francis Johnston [2017] EWHC 497

A surgeon was liable for his patient for having failed to give her full advice about the risks relating to surgery aimed at eradicating pain in her back and left leg.

The claimant stated that she consented to surgery in circumstances where the surgeon failed to give her full and accurate advice about the risks and benefits of a discectomy. She claimed that as a direct consequence of the comforting and optimistic advice that was given to her, she was reassured and this led to her giving consent. Mrs. Thefaut suffered further nerve damage as a consequence of the surgery. Mrs. Thefaut claims that she had been properly advised, she would have known that the chances of a full recovery were not as optimistic as portrayed and she would not have given her consent. In such circumstances she was advised that she would recover over time and her pain would resolve.

In relation to the issue of consent, the Court found that the surgeon fell below the standard required in law (Montgomery). On the evidence, the advice given to Mrs. Thefaut led to her giving consent in circumstances where she would not have consented if she had been given proper advice.

#### The power of the Court to override parental consent

Great Ormond Street Hospital v. Yates [2017] EWHC 1909 (Fam) (24 July 2017). Under the law, parents with parental responsibility have the power to give consent for their child to undergo, medical treatment if their child lacks the capacity to consent. However, a court has the power to override parental consent in the exercise of its independent and objective judgment in the child's best interest.

Charlie Gard was born with a rare medical condition called mitochondrial DNA depletion syndrome, causing severe physical and cognitive debilitation. Consequently, Charlie suffered from congenital deafness, severe epilepsy and could not move his arms or legs or breathe without the assistance of a ventilator. His prognosis was poor.

Charlie's parents then became aware of an experimental treatment. Despite the limited prospect of success, Charlie's parents were in contact with a medical professional who stated that the treatment was of possible benefit to and it was reasonable to attempt.

Before a decision could be made about whether to proceed with the treatment, Charlie suffered a series of severe seizures and his cognitive condition seriously deteriorated. His doctors at the hospital agreed that as a result of the brain damage that Charlie had suffered, the experimental treatment was almost entirely futile; possibility of prolonged suffering outweighed the tiny chance of benefit from the treatment.

Charlie's parents did not believe that Charlie's condition was as extreme as doctors maintained. Due to the conflict between Charlie's parents and the hospital, the hospital referred the matter to the UK High Court.

A series of litigation ensued in the UK courts and the ECHR; at every stage, the courts agreed with the hospital that the withdrawal of treatment was in Charlie's best interests.

# **Appendix 2 Overview of the Consent Process**

This process aims to optimise the time available for providing the required information and discussing options for treatment to facilitate patient decision. This process is aimed at persons with capacity.

Step	Task	Comments
1	Explain diagnosis to the patient.	Ensure that the information is given in a format that the patient can understand. Explain the prognosis if untreated.
2	Explain the options for treatment.	Explain the risks and benefits of various treatment options side by side and ensure that not having any treatment is included amongst the options. Describe the likelihood of success of the various options and the impact that treatments will have on the patient's life.
3	Explain the consent and decision-making process so the patient understands what is expected of them.	Ensure that the patient understands that they are expected to make a supported decision, and their rights within this process. Do not assume that the patient will be familiar with the concept of supported decision-making and check whether they have a supporter.
4	Time for deliberation and private consideration of options for the patient.	Where relevant, nurses should allow sufficient time for patients to deliberate on available options and to consider their goals and wishes in terms of their treatment. This may include reading further information or accessing online resources to provide them with more information on their condition and treatment options.
5	Discuss the patient's wishes, needs, views and expectations regarding any treatment they might undertake.	It is important not to make assumptions regarding what a 'good' outcome from treatment would look like for the patient. Different patients will have different life priorities and different views regarding what the best available outcome might be or what risks are acceptable to them. Sufficient time is given to ensure that the patient's views are understood and respected.
6	Discuss trade-offs with the patient in light of their needs, goals and expectations.	Explain how different options will or will not achieve their goals and any potential impact that the options will have.

Consent to treatment and care DATE APPROVED 02/12/20

7	Provide any relevant information not already covered, or any emerging information that may have altered the conditions surrounding the various options for treatment.	Is there any further information that would have a bearing on the decision that the patient is being asked to make that has not already been discussed and / or understood by the patient? If so, ensure that these factors are explained and if necessary go back to an earlier stage in the process and repeat in light of new knowledge. This is of particular importance in cases where the process has spanned a period of time where changes may have occurred in the patient's condition or around the risks and benefits of any of the treatment options available.
8	Has the patient understood?	Prior to any decision it is important that the person seeking consent is satisfied that the patient has understood the information that they have been given and that any decision they make will be made independently and from an informed position.
9	Respect the patient's decision.	You must always respect the decision made by an adult patient with capacity.

(adapted from the Royal College of Surgeons (2016, p.12-13)

# **Appendix 3 Equality Impact Screening Tool**

Stage 1 - Screening				
Title of Procedural Document: Consent to Treatment and Care				
Date of Assessment	04 <sup>th</sup> December 2019	Responsible Department	Governance Team	
Name of person completing assessment	Allison Mills	Job Title	Procedural and Governance Assistant	

# Does the policy/function affect one group less or more favourably than another on the basis of :

	Yes/No	Comments
• Age	No	
Disability  Learning disability; physical disability; sensory impairment and/or mental health problems e.g. dementia	No	
Ethnic Origin (including hard to reach groups)	No	
Gender reassignment	No	
Pregnancy or Maternity	No	
• Race	No	
• Sex	No	
Religion and Belief	No	
Sexual Orientation	No	

If the answer to all of the above questions is NO, the EIA is complete. If YES, a full impact assessment is required: go on to stage 2

# Stage 2 - Full Impact Assessment

What is the impact	Level of Impact	Mitigating Actions (what needs to be done to minimise / remove the impact)	Responsible Officer

# **Monitoring of Actions**

The monitoring of actions to mitigate any impact will be undertaken at the appropriate level